商務及經濟發展局 通訊及科技科

香港添馬添美道二號 政府總部西翼二十一樓



COMMUNICATIONS AND TECHNOLOGY BRANCH

COMMERCE AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BUREAU

21/F, West Wing Central Government Offices 2 Tim Mei Avenue Tamar, Hong Kong

By fax & By hand

(Fax no.: 2537 7053)

本局檔號 OUR REF

來函檔號 YOUR REF

話 TEL. NO.

2810 2720

傳 真 FAXLINE

2827 0373

3 May 2012

Hon Wong Yuk-man
Chairman
Panel on Information Technology and Broadcasting
Room 1013
Legislative Council Complex
1 Legislative Council Road
Central, Hong Kong

Dear Chairman,

Standing Orders of the Communications Authority

During the deliberations of the Bills Committee of the Communications Authority (CA) Bill, we undertook to inform the Panel on Information Technology and Broadcasting of the Standing Orders of the CA in respect of the number of CA meetings in any year, the meeting procedures, members' participation in meetings by electronic means, the supply of documents or information relating to any matter to a member who has or may have an interest in the matter, and the disclosure of interests by CA member.

The CA was established on 1 April 2012 and had its first meeting on 2 April 2012. I enclose the Standing Orders of the CA endorsed at that meeting for your reference. Some salient points are outlined below for information.

Number of meetings

Paragraph 2(1) of the Standing Orders provides that the CA shall meet at least once every month. The actual frequency of meetings will be determined by the Chairperson (or the Vice-chairperson in the absence of the Chairperson) depending on the operational needs.

Meeting procedures

According to paragraph 5(1) of the Standing Orders, the CA shall approve the schedule of its meetings at the beginning of each year. A notice of meeting shall be given to each member at least 5 working days before an additional meeting except in case of urgency.

Paragraph 3(4) of the Standing Orders stipulates that every question of the CA meeting is to be determined by consensus or if there is no consensus, a majority of votes of the members present.

Participation in meetings through electronic means

Section 10(6) of the CA Ordinance (Cap. 616) provides that subject to prior approval of the CA Chairperson (or the Vice-chairperson in the absence of the Chairperson) and compliance with the Standing Orders of the CA, a member may participate in meetings through electronic means.

To safeguard confidentiality, paragraph 14(3) of the Standing Orders stipulates that a CA member should not participate in a meeting through electronic means if confidential information would be discussed at the meeting, unless in the most exceptional circumstances where the need for speed outweighs that for confidentiality. Even then, the member should take various preventive measures to minimise the risk of confidential information leakage.

Supply of documents or information to a member who has or may have an interest in the matter

Paragraph 6(4) of the Standing Orders provides that unless with the consent of the Chairperson (or the Vice-chairperson in the absence of the Chairperson), papers on a matter shall not be forwarded to any member of the CA who has disclosed an interest in that matter.

Registration and disclosure of interests

The CA adopts a two-tier reporting system. Paragraph 12(3) of the Standing Orders stipulated the classes of interests which CA members shall disclose regularly. The Secretary of the CA will establish and maintain a register of these registered interests, and made available on the website of the CA for public inspection¹.

Apart from the regular registration of interests, CA member shall also disclose interests at the meeting according to paragraph 13(1) of the Standing Orders. This is also a statutory requirement under section 14(1) of the CA Ordinance.

Yours sincerely,

(Joe C C Wong)

for Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development

c.c. Clerk to Panel (Attn: Ms Yue Tin-po)

Fax: 2978 7569

¹ The register is being prepared and will be uploaded to CA's website in due course.

STANDING ORDERS OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

(Made by the Communications Authority under Section 10(5) of the Communications Authority Ordinance (Cap. 616)

1. Language

English and Chinese can be used at meetings of the Communications Authority (the "Authority"). Simultaneous interpretation will be provided if necessary.

2. Meetings of the Authority

- (1) Unless otherwise determined by the Chairperson, or the Vice-Chairperson in the absence of the Chairperson, the Authority shall meet at least once every month at such time and place as the Chairperson, or the Vice-Chairperson in the absence of the Chairperson, shall appoint.
- (2) The Chairperson may at any time, or shall, within seven days of receiving a requisition signed by
 - (a) the Vice-Chairperson;
 - (b) the Director-General of Communications (the "Director-General"); or
 - (c) any two members of the Authority,

convene a meeting of the Authority.

- (3) The Vice-Chairperson, in the absence of the Chairperson, may at any time, or shall, within seven days of receiving a requisition signed by
 - (a) the Director-General; or
 - (b) any two members of the Authority,

convene a meeting of the Authority.

- (4) Any such requisition shall state the purpose for which the meeting is to be called.
- (5) If a quorum is not present within a quarter of an hour after

the time appointed for the meeting, the Authority shall stand adjourned until the next ordinary day of meeting or another time set by the Secretary with the consent of the Chairperson, or in his absence, the Vice-Chairperson.

3. Quorum, Chairperson and Decision

- (1) At any meeting of the Authority, a majority of the members for the time being in office shall form a quorum.
- (2) At all meetings of the Authority, the Chairperson, or in his absence, the Vice-Chairperson, or in the absence of both of them, such member as the members present shall appoint, shall preside.
- (3) In these Standing Orders the expression "Chairperson" unless otherwise specified means the Chairperson of the Authority, but any power or duty assigned to the Chairperson in relation to the conduct of a meeting may be exercised by the person presiding at the meeting.
- (4) Every question of the meeting of the Authority is to be determined by consensus or if there is no consensus, a majority of votes of the members present and voting on it.
- (5) In the event of an equality of votes, the member presiding has a casting vote in addition to the member's original vote.

4. Appointment of Secretary

The Director-General shall appoint an officer from the Office of the Communications Authority ("OFCA") to be the secretary of the Authority (the "Secretary").

5. Notice of Meeting

(1) The Authority shall approve the schedule of its meetings at the beginning of each year. Should there be a need for an additional meeting or changing the date of a scheduled meeting, notice of such a meeting shall be given by the Secretary to each member of the Authority at least 5 working days before the day of meeting, except in case of urgency where as long a notice as possible shall be given.

(2) For the purpose of giving notice in paragraph 5(1) above, the duration of the notice excludes the day on which notice is given and the day of the meeting. For the avoidance of doubt, the expression "working days" includes Saturday which is not a public holiday.

6. Issue of Papers and Minutes

- (1) The Secretary shall normally transmit the agenda of the meeting to each member of the Authority at least 48 hours before the meeting, except in case of urgency where agenda shall be transmitted as soon as possible.
- (2) Papers will wherever possible be sent to members at least 48 hours before the meeting. With the consent of the Chairperson, matters may be raised and dealt with by the Authority at a meeting without the papers having been so circulated.
- (3) Occasional omission to supply such notice of meeting, papers, or agenda to any member of the Authority shall not affect the validity of the meeting.
- (4) Unless with the consent of the Chairperson, or in his absence, the Vice-Chairperson, papers on a matter shall not be forwarded to any member of the Authority who has disclosed an interest in that matter.
- (5) Members of the Authority will receive agendas and minutes of all meetings of the committees of the Authority.
- (6) Members of the Authority will receive the papers of those committees on which they serve. Papers of any other committees will only be forwarded to members of the Authority if they have specifically asked for them.

7. Order of Business

- (1) The order of business at any meeting of the Authority shall be
 - (a) To approve as a correct record the minutes of the last

meeting;

- (b) To deal with matters arising from minutes of the previous meeting;
- (c) To consider and where appropriate endorse recommendations put forward by
 - (i) the committees of the Authority;
 - (ii) the Director-General; and
 - (iii) individual members of the Authority; and
- (d) Any other business on the agenda.
- (2) This order of business may be varied by the member presiding the meeting.
- (3) Where a meeting is called on requisition, only the subject matter of the requisition shall be placed on the agenda.

8. Transaction of Business by Circulation of Papers by the Authority

- (1) Upon seeking the agreement of the Chairperson, or in his absence, the Vice-Chairperson, a member of the Authority or the Secretary may circulate a paper or copies of the paper on a matter to all members of the Authority so that the Authority may make a resolution in writing on that matter. A resolution in writing is as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Authority.
- (2) The paper or copies of the paper concerned shall include a specified date before which a member is requested to respond, a proposed resolution in writing and a section for a member of the Authority to indicate whether he supports or opposes or abstains in that resolution.
- (3) A member of the Authority may, on the paper or a copy of the paper, indicate whether he supports, opposes or abstains in the resolution. In doing so, he shall sign on the paper or the copy of the paper.
- (4) A member of the Authority shall return the signed paper or

copy of the paper to the Secretary on or before the date he is requested to respond. He shall make the return in person, or through facsimile or other means of electronic transmission. A paper or copy of the paper transmitted through facsimile or other means of electronic transmission and bearing the signature of the member is considered signed by the member.

- (5) A resolution in writing on a matter is approved if the Secretary receives a paper or copies of the paper which together bear the signatures of the majority of the members of the Authority for the time being in office (one of whom shall be the Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson or the Director-General) supporting the resolution.
- (6) The date on which a resolution in writing is approved is the date on which the last person forming the majority of the Authority has signed the paper or copy of the paper.
- (7) A member of the Authority may during the circulation of the paper request the matter concerned to be transacted at a meeting of the Authority. He shall pass the request by way of a notice in writing to the Chairperson, through the Secretary or otherwise, on or before the specified date before which members are requested to respond to the paper in circulation.
- (8) A notice passed to the Chairperson under subparagraph 8(7) above will render any resolution approved in writing void and the Chairperson must convene a meeting.
- (9) If a member of the Authority has a pecuniary interest whether direct or indirect, or a personal interest greater than that which the member has as a member of the general public, in the matter being dealt with by way of the circulation of papers, he shall disclose the nature of the interest by attaching to the papers being circulated a note recording the disclosure. In this case, unless with the consent of the Chairperson, his signature is not to be counted for the purpose of approving a resolution in writing.
- (10) If a member of the Authority making a disclosure according to subparagraph 8(9) above is the Chairperson, his power to

determine whether a signature is to be counted shall be exercised by the Vice-Chairperson. If both the Chairperson and the Vice-Chairperson make a disclosure under subparagraph 8(9), the matter cannot be transacted by way of circulation of papers.

(11) The validity of an approval of a resolution in writing is not affected by the failure by a member to comply with subparagraph 8(9).

9. Participation in Meetings through Electronic Means

With the prior approval of the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson (if the Chairperson is absent) and the compliance with the relevant conditions in these Standing Orders, a member of the Authority is taken to be present at a meeting of the Authority if he participates in the meeting by telephone, video conferencing or other electronic means, and the member is able to communicate with the other members present and they are able to communicate with the member.

10. Broadcast Complaints Committee

- (1) A Broadcast Complaints Committee shall be constituted pursuant to Section 10 of the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391) (the "B(MP)O").
- (2) The Broadcast Complaints Committee shall, pursuant to Section 11 of the B(MP)O, consider complaints in relation to a contravention of the B(MP)O, the Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562) (the "BO"), Part IIIA of the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106) (the "TO"), the terms or conditions of a broadcast licence, or a Code of Practice issued by the Authority for compliance by holders of a broadcast licence.
- (3) The Broadcast Complaints Committee shall determine its own procedures pursuant to Section 10(7) of the B(MP)O.
- (4) The Director-General shall appoint an officer from OFCA to be the secretary of the Broadcast Complaints Committee.

11. Committees (Other than the Broadcast Complaints Committee)

- (1) The Authority may appoint committees pursuant to Section 17 of the Communications Authority Ordinance (Cap. 616) (the "CAO"), and lay down the terms of reference of each of the committee appointed.
- (2) A committee shall be constituted of a chairperson, who shall be a member of the Authority, and such other persons as the Authority shall appoint.
- (3) The Director-General shall appoint an officer from OFCA to be the secretary of each committee appointed by the Authority.
- (4) Any particular matter may be referred to such a committee by the Chairperson or the Director-General if the matter falls within the committee's terms of reference.
- (5) At the meeting of a committee, the chairperson of that committee or, in his absence, such member, who must be a member of the Authority, as the members present shall select, shall preside.
- (6) The chairperson of a committee may invite the attendance of any other member of the Authority or any other person to attend any meeting of the committee. In such circumstances, the invited member or other person shall not be considered a member of the committee and shall not vote.
- (7) In any matter properly and equally affecting two or more committees, the Authority or where the matter is urgent, the Chairperson, or in his absence, the Vice-Chairperson, may decide that such matter shall be dealt with by a joint meeting of the committees concerned. In such circumstances, the chairperson of the joint meeting shall be appointed by the Chairperson, or in his absence, the Vice-Chairperson, and shall be one of the chairpersons of the committees concerned, and the members of the committees concerned shall be deemed to have delegated to the joint committee the powers and functions of the committees concerned.
- (8) Committees may deal with matters submitted to them either by discussion at a meeting or by circulation of papers.

- (9) Any member of a committee may request a meeting be convened to discuss a matter raised in a circulating paper and such meeting shall be arranged by the secretary of the committee.
- (10) Any business at a committee meeting may be determined by the majority of votes of those members present and voting.
- (11) For meetings of all committees of the Authority, a majority of the members (including co-opted members, if any) for the time being in office form a quorum. A quorum will be deemed to exist, following the opening of a meeting by the chairperson of a committee, or, in his absence, such presiding member, notwithstanding the minimum number of members present at the meeting subsequently may fall below the quorum as a result of any members departing during the meeting.

12. Register of Interests under Section 13 of the CAO

- (1) Pursuant to Section 13(1) of the CAO, a member of the Authority must disclose to the Authority any interest falling within the classes described in subparagraph 12(3) below.
- (2) Disclosure of interests shall be made to the Authority on the following occasions
 - (a) on the member's first appointment;
 - (b) at the beginning of each calendar year after the appointment;
 - (c) when the member becomes aware of the existence of an interest not previously disclosed; and
 - (d) after the occurrence of any change to an interest previously disclosed.
- (3) The classes of interests which members shall disclose pursuant to Section 13 of the CAO are as follows
 - (a) remunerated employments, offices, trades, professions or vocations;
 - (b) proprietorships, partnerships or directorships of companies;

- shareholdings of 1% or more of the company's issued share capital in a publicly listed or private company; and
- (d) other declarable interests, taking into consideration the nature of work of the Authority and/or the individual committee.
- (4) Any interest falling within the classes described in subparagraphs 12(3)(b) to (d) above that is held by the spouse of a member on the member's behalf shall be disclosed to the Authority.
- (5) The Secretary shall establish and maintain a register relating to any interest disclosed under subparagraphs 12(1) to (4) above. The register shall be kept at the principal office of OFCA, and made available on the website of the Authority for public inspection.
- (6) The register shall record the name of the person making the disclosure and the particulars thereof.
- (7) For the avoidance of doubt and for the purpose of this paragraph, the Secretary may request any further information from members.

13. Declaration of Interests at Meetings

- (1) If a member of the Authority has
 - (a) a pecuniary interest, whether direct or indirect; or
 - (b) a personal interest greater than that which the member has as a member of the general public,

in a matter under discussion at the meeting of the Authority, the member shall disclose the nature of the interest at the meeting.

(2) Subject to subparagraphs 13(5) and (6) below, the member who has an interest to disclose under subparagraph 13(1) shall not speak or vote on the matter before disclosing that interest.

- (3) Any disclosure made under subparagraph 13(1) above shall be recorded in the minutes of that meeting.
- (4) If the disclosure under subparagraph 13(1) is made by the Chairperson, he must vacate the chair during the discussion on the matter. The Vice-Chairperson, or in his absence, such member as the members present shall appoint, shall preside during the discussion on that matter.
- (5) If the majority of the other members present at the meeting request, the member who has made a disclosure under subparagraph 13(1) shall withdraw from the meeting during the discussion on that matter.
- (6) Unless otherwise determined by the majority of the other members present, any member who has made a disclosure under subparagraph 13(1) shall not vote on any resolution concerning the matter under the discussion or be counted for the purpose of establishing the existence of a quorum.
- (7) When a known pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, or personal interest exists, the Secretary may withhold circulation of relevant papers to the member concerned. Where a member has received a paper for discussion which he knows presents a conflict of interest, he should immediately inform the Secretary and return the paper.
- To facilitate the disclosure of interest under subparagraph (8)13(1) above, for matters to be discussed by the Authority that involve any specific company holding or applying for a a telecommunications carrier licence, a sound broadcasting licence, a domestic free television programme service licence, or a domestic pay television programme service licence, the Secretary will provide, in the paper submitted to Members for consideration, relevant information (such as shareholding structure and the names of directors) about the company involved. Such information will be drawn from a database kept by OFCA, which will be updated once a year or when a key change is known in the public domain. While the Secretary will make his best endeavours in and accurate information. the up-to-date responsibility to make full disclosure of interests held

remains with the members, and mistakes or omissions that may be found in the information provided by the Secretary shall not be attributed as a reason for members' failure to make disclosure. For the avoidance of doubt, the provision by the Secretary of relevant information about individual companies does not apply if the matter to be discussed by the Authority concerns specific types of licensees across the board.

(9) The validity of any proceeding of the Authority is not affected by the failure of a member to comply with subparagraph 13(1).

14. Safeguarding Confidentiality

- (1) A member of the Authority shall observe any confidentiality obligations imposed on them by law, including the confidentiality requirements in Section 23 of the CAO, section 27 of the BO and section 23 of the B(MP)O.
- (2) A member of the Authority shall return all papers of the Authority issued to him at the end of the meeting at which the papers have been discussed. In exceptional cases where the papers are not so returned, the Secretary will remind members to return the papers at regular intervals.
- (3) A member of the Authority should not participate in a meeting through electronic means under paragraph 9 if confidential information would be discussed at the meeting, unless in the most exceptional circumstances where the need for speed outweighs that for confidentiality. Even then, the member should, inter alia,
 - (a) ensure the room where the member participates in a meeting through electronic means is private, allow no unauthorised access and without the presence of any other person; and
 - (b) keep the speech in the most guarded and cryptic manner, and exercise care to avoid that the conversation being overheard by any other person.